
                          STATE OF FLORIDA
                 DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS

J. T. MATTHEWS,                  )
                                 )
          Petitioner,            )
                                 )
vs.                              )   CASE NO. 93-1952
                                 )   FCHR NO. 92-2513
FLINT INK CORPORATION,           )
d/b/a DAVID M COMPANY,           )
                                 )
          Respondent.            )
_________________________________)

                          RECOMMENDED ORDER

     Pursuant to notice, the above-styled matter was heard before the Division
of Administrative Hearings by its duly designated Hearing Officer, Daniel M.
Kilbride, on July 30, 1993, in Orlando, Florida.  The following appearances were
entered:

                             APPEARANCES

     For Petitioner:  J. T. Matthews (pro se)
                      103 North Hampton Court
                      Sanford, Florida  32773

     For Respondent:  Stephen T. Ball, Esquire
                      Maguire, Voorhis & Wells
                      Post Office Box 633
                      Orlando, Florida  32802

                       STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

     Whether Petitioner, a member of a protected class, was suspended from his
position as a mixing/mill operator with the Respondent on or about February 11,
1992, on the basis of his race (Black), in violation of Section 760.10(1)(a),
Florida Statutes (1991).

     Whether Petitioner, a member of a protected class, received a written
reprimanded on March 5, 1992 in retaliation for filing a complaint of
discrimination or as part of a pattern of racial harassment through a hostile
work environment, in violation of Section 760.10 (7), Florida Statutes (1991).

                       PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

     Petitioner filed a Charge of Discrimination with the Florida Commission on
Human Relations on April 2, 1992.  Following an investigation, the Petitioner
filed a Petition for Relief from an Unlawful Employment Practice on April 2,
1993, and this matter was referred to the Division of Administrative Hearings
for a hearing de novo and the submission of a recommended order to the



Commission.  Respondent filed its Answer and Affirmative Defenses on April 28,
1993.  Upon proper notice, a formal hearing was conducted in Orlando, Florida on
July 30, 1993.

     At the hearing, Petitioner testified in his own behalf, and called seven
(7) witnesses.  Petitioner offered three exhibits into evidence.  Respondent
called four witnesses, and offered four exhibits into evidence.  During the
course of the hearing, Petitioner sought to elicit testimony relating to the
issues of hostile work environment and disparate treatment in the work place.
Respondent objected, and moved to strike.  The Hearing Officer reserved ruling
on the motions.  Respondent was permitted to have a continuing objection.  On
review of the pleadings and the testimony in this matter, Respondent's motion is
GRANTED.  Upon conclusion of the testimony, the parties made closing argument,
and were provided the opportunity to submit proposed findings of fact,
conclusions of law and legal argument within ten days of the conclusion of the
hearing.  A transcript was not ordered.  Petitioner has  filed proposed findings
which were received on August 6, 1993.  Respondent files its proposed findings
on September 3, 1993.  The parties' proposed findings have been given careful
consideration, and are addressed in the Appendix attached hereto.

     Based upon all of the evidence, the following findings of fact are
determined:

                         FINDINGS OF FACT

     1.  The Respondent David M Company is a subsidiary of Flint Ink Corporation
and is in the business of manufacturing a specialized type of printing paper.
Respondent is an employer under the Florida Human Rights Act of 1977, as
amended.

     2.  Petitioner has been employed with David M Company for approximately
four years as an operator.  Petitioner is an African-American, and a member of a
protected class.  He is the only African-American who is assigned to work in the
Mill/Mixing Room.

     3.  Due to missing and unaccounted for equipment, Respondent had made a
business decision to purchase new lockers for the shop employees in early
February, 1992.  The purchase of these new lockers was to help deal with the
loss of equipment due to negligence and/or pilfering.  The old lockers were
disposed of by donation to a local school.

     4.  On or about February 11, 1992, Petitioner's supervisor, Jeff Bardusch,
was in the process of reissuing new safety equipment to his employees, including
Petitioner.  They were to be stored in the new lockers with combination locks.
They ran out of goggles prior to distribution to Petitioner.  Those workers who
received safety goggles were white.

     5.  Petitioner complained that he was being assigned to a work detail
without proper safety equipment (safety goggles).  Additional safety goggles had
been ordered by Respondent, and would have been provided to Petitioner within
the next day or two.  As Petitioner was being reissued his remaining safety
equipment, he also objected to signing a form stating that he had read and
agreed to abide by the new safety rules and regulations.  These safety rules and
regulations had been discussed by all the employees for several months, and had
been adopted and approved by all his coworkers.



     6.  Petitioner was told by his supervisor, Jeff Bardusch, that the rules
had been in committee for three months, and he had ample time to voice any
objections.  He was told he could discuss this matter with his EIG/SPC team
later in the day, and he should return to work.

     7.  Not satisfied with this response, Petitioner requested to meet with
Jeff Bardusch's supervisor, Mark Monahan, the Production Manager.  Petitioner
again complained to Mr. Monahan that he did not agree with some of the new
safety rules and regulations.  Petitioner was told to place his complaints in
writing and to return to work.

     8.  Instead of returning to work, Petitioner proceeded outside the chain of
command to the General Manager's (a/k/a President) office, Mark Barrington, to
lodge a complaint.  The General Manager instructed Petitioner to go through the
proper chain of command to voice his complaints.

     9.  As Petitioner was meeting with the General Manager, Jeff Bardusch
advised Ed Noble, the Plant Manager (a/k/a Branch Manager), that Petitioner had
gone outside the chain of command, and had gone directly to the General
Manager's office with a complaint.  The General Manager is the supervisor of the
Plant Manager.

     10.  Ed Noble instructed Jeff Bardusch to have Petitioner come to see him
as soon as Petitioner left the General Manager's office.

     11.  Jeff Bardusch brought Petitioner to the Plant Manager who verbally
reprimanded Petitioner for going outside the chain of command, and not returning
to work as instructed by two supervisors.  This was not the first time
Petitioner had gone outside the chain of command.

     12.  Petitioner became very hostile and angry with Mr. Noble, and pounded
his fists on Mr. Noble's desk.  Petitioner was told to "clock out" and go home.

     13.  Instead of clocking-out as he was instructed, Petitioner went back to
the General Manager's office, and stood outside the General Manager's office
door.  Mr. Noble followed Petitioner and again asked him if he had clocked-out,
and was leaving work as he had been instructed.  Petitioner said he had not, and
that he was going to see the General Manager again, and call Corporate
headquarters.

     14.  Petitioner was told that if he did not clock-out and leave the plant
as he was told, he would have him escorted from the premises.  Petitioner then
left the area outside the General Manager's office, and proceeded to his work
area.

     15.  Petitioner picked up his belongings, and started for the exit door.
At that point, Petitioner turned around, and went back to Mr. Noble, shaking his
fist in Mr. Noble's face in a threatening manner, and verbalizing his discontent
with Mr. Noble's decision.

     16.  Petitioner was suspended for three days for insubordination.

     17.  Petitioner returned to work on February 14, 1992.

     18.  During Petitioner's absence, the old lockers were removed from the
plant premises for donation to the local school.



     19.  During the removal, Petitioner's locker had to be cleaned out by his
coworkers and, at least two pair of safety goggles were found in Petitioner's
locker.  These were the same type safety goggles that Petitioner claimed he did
not have to complete his work assignment on February 11.  In addition to the
safety goggles, other personal items belonging to Petitioner were inventoried.

     20.  No one else shared this locker with him at the time of the incident.
Petitioner had previously shared this locker with James Lowe.  Lowe had left
David M Company in 1991, a year before this incident occurred.

     21.  Petitioner's explanation that he didn't know how goggles got in his
locker, or who they belonged to is not credible.

     22.  On or about February 15, 1992, Petitioner was issued a new pair of
safety goggles by Respondent.  After Petitioner returned from his suspension,
Petitioner requested a meeting with Plant Manager, Ed Noble.  On February 19,
1992, a meeting took place with Petitioner, Ed Noble, and Petitioner's
supervisor, Jeff Bardusch.  At that meeting Mr. Noble discussed with Petitioner
his concerns and counseled Petitioner that he needed to improve his behavior and
work performance.  At no time during the meeting was Petitioner threatened or
retaliated against in any manner.  Nor was the topic of racial discrimination
ever discussed by Petitioner or anyone else.  Petitioner filed a charge of
discrimination with the Florida Commission on Human Relations on April 2, 1992.

     23.  On March 5, 1992, Petitioner received a Notice of Disciplinary Action
from his supervisor, Jeff Bardusch, for loafing, loitering, or engaging
unauthorized visiting during work hours and taking excessive breaks.  This was
in violation of Respondent's work rules, "Minor Violations", Rules #3 and #8.

     24.  On that same day, Petitioner was also given a second Notice of
Disciplinary Action for engaging in careless or negligent acts which cause, or
could cause personal injury or property damage in accordance with Respondent's
work rules, "Major Violations", Rule #5.

     25.  The latter incident occurred when Petitioner was observed by his
supervisor pushing the two-tier rubber holding carts across the mill room floor,
crashing them into the metal carts.

     26.  Other incidents occurring subsequent to March 5, 1992, relating to
Petitioner on his coworkers do not demonstrate a pattern of discriminatory
conduct directed to Petitioner or other members of a protected class by the
employer.

                        CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

     27.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has jurisdiction over the
subject matter of this proceeding, and the parties thereto, pursuant to
subsection 120.57(1), Florida Statutes and Rule 22T-8.016(1), Florida
Administrative Code.

     28.  The State of Florida, under the legislative scheme contained in
Florida Statutes Chapter 760, incorporates and adopts the legal principles and
precedents established in the federal anti-discrimination laws specifically set
forth under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 as amended 42 USC Section
2000e et seq.  The Florida law prohibiting unlawful employment practices is
found in Section 760.10, Florida Statutes.  This section prohibits discharge or



otherwise to discriminate against any individual with respect to compensation,
terms, conditions, or privileges of employment because of such individual's
race. (Sec. 760.10(1)(a).

     29.  The Supreme Court established, and later clarified, the burden of
proof in disparate treatment cases in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S.
792 (1973) and Texas Department of Community Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248
(1981) and again in the very recent case of St. Mary's Honor Center v. Hicks,
U.S., __113 S.Ct. 2742 (1993).  The FCHR has adopted this evidentiary model.
Kilpatrick v. Howard Johnson Co., 7 FALR 5468,5475 (FCHR 1985).  McDonnell
Douglas places upon the Petitioner the initial burden of proving a prima facie
case of racial discrimination.

     30.  Judicial authorities have established the burden of proof for
establishing a prima facie case of discriminatory treatment:

            a.  The Petitioner is black;
            b.  The employee is qualified for the
          position;
            c.  The employee was subject to an adverse
          employment decision (he was suspended without
          pay from that position);
            d.  There is a causal connection between a
          and c.  Canino v. EEOC, 707 F.2d 468, 32 FEP
          Cases 139 (11th Cir. 1983); Smith v. Georgia,
          684 F.2d 729, 29 FEP Cases 1134 (11th Cir.
          1982); Lee v. Russell County Board of Education,
          684 F.2d 769, 29 FEP Cases 1508 (11th Cir.
          1982), appeal after remand, 744 F.2d 768, 36
          FEP Cases 22 (11th Cir. 1984).

     31.  To establish a prima facie case of racial harassment through a hostile
work environment, a Petitioner must establish that:

            a. The Petitioner is black;
            b.  He was subjected to unwelcome
          racial harassment;
            c.  The harassment affected the terms
          and conditions or privileges of employment;
            d.  The doctrine of respondeate superior
          is applicable.  Coney v. Department of Human
          Resources of the State of Georgia, 787 F.
          Supp. 1434 (M.D.Ga. 1992).

     32.  Proving a prima facie case serves to eliminate the most common
nondiscriminatory reasons for the Plaintiff's disparate treatment.  See,
Teamsters v. U.S., 431 U.S. 324, 358 and n. 44 (1977).  It is not, however, the
equivalent of a factual finding of discrimination.  It is simply proof of
actions taken by the employer from which discriminatory animus is inferred
because experience has proved that in the absence of any other explanation it is
more likely than not that those actions were bottomed on impermissible
considerations.  The presumption is that more often than not people do not act
in a totally arbitrary manner, without any underlying reason, in a business
setting.  Furnco Construction Corp. v. Waters, 438 U.S. 567, 576 (1978).



33.  Once the Plaintiff has succeeded in proving all the elements
necessary to establish a prima facie case, the employer must then articulate
some legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the challenged employment
decision.  The employer is required only "to produce admissible evidence which
would allow the trier of fact to conclude that the employment decision had not
been motivated by discriminatory animus."  Texas Department of Community Affairs
v. Burdine, at 257.  The employer "need not persuade the court that it was
actually motivated by the proffered reasons . . . it is sufficient if the
[employer's] evidence raises a genuine issue of fact as to whether it
discriminated against the Plaintiff."  Id. at 254-255.  This burden is
characterized as "exceedingly light."  Perryman v. Johnson Products Co., Inc.,
698 F.2d 1138 (11th Cir. 1983).

     34.  Once the employer articulates a legitimate reason for the action
taken, the evidentiary burden shifts back to the Petitioner who must prove that
the reason offered by the employer for its decision is not the true reason, but
is merely a pretext.  The employer need not prove that it was actually motivated
by the articulated nondiscriminatory reasons or that the replacement was more
qualified than the Petitioner.  Texas Department of Community Affairs v.
Burdine, at 257-8.

     35.  In Burdine, the Supreme Court emphasized that the ultimate burden of
persuading the trier of fact that the Respondent intentionally discriminated
against the Petitioner remains at all times with the Petitioner.  Texas
Department of Community Affairs v. Burdine, at 253.  The Court confirmed this
principle again in St. Mary's Honor Center v. Hicks, 1113 S.Ct. 2742 (1993).

     36.  In the case sub judice, the Petitioner has established that he is an
African American (a member of a protected class) and was qualified for the
position.  The Petitioner has also established that he was subjected to an
adverse employment decision by his suspension from employment without pay.  The
Plaintiff came forward with sufficient evidence to meet his initial burden of
proof on the issue of racial discrimination.

     37.  The Petitioner wholly failed to meet his burden of proof on the issue
of racial harassment

     38.  The sequence of events then required the Respondent to come forward
and "articulate" valid, nondiscriminatory reasons for the resulting suspension
and reprimands.  The Company has done so.

     39.  The Respondent established by a preponderance of the testimony and
business records that the Petitioner had been suspended, and later reprimanded
due to his violation of major and minor work rules.  The evidence presented by
the Company and elicited from witnesses at the formal hearing on this matter
establish that the Petitioner was suspended for three days on February 11, 1992,
for insubordination.  This insubordination resulted from the Petitioner shaking
his fist in the face of the Plant Manager in a threatening manner.  This was a
major violation of company policy which could have resulted in termination.  The
basis for the decision was on a nondiscriminatory reason, and was not
pretextual.  In addition, Respondent has articulated a valid, nondiscriminatory
reason as the basis for its decision to issue two Notices of Disciplinary Action
on March 5, 1992, and the evidence was credible that these actions were
warranted.  Further, Petitioner's aggressive, outspoken personality created
conflicts with management which was disruptive to the company's function.
Respondent could properly consider this when making employment decisions.  See:
Hale v. Cuyahoga County Welfare Dept., ___F.2d___, 51 FEP 1264 (6th Cir. 1989).



     40.  Petitioner has failed to produce any evidence to demonstrate that the
Respondent's articulated reasons for its actions in February and March, 1992,
were "pretextual".

                          RECOMMENDATION

     Based on the foregoing findings of fact and conclusions of law, it is

     RECOMMENDED that a Final Order be issued which DENIES the Petition for
Relief.

     DONE AND ENTERED this 17th day of September, 1993, in Tallahassee, Leon
County, Florida.

                              ___________________________________
                              DANIEL M. KILBRIDE
                              Hearing Officer
                              Division of Administrative Hearings
                              The DeSoto Building
                              1230 Apalachee Parkway
                              Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1550
                              (904)488-9675

                              Filed with the Clerk of the
                              Division of Administrative Hearings
                              this 17th day of September, 1993.

         APPENDIX TO RECOMMENDED ORDER, CASE NO. 93-1952

     The following constitutes my specific rulings, in accordance with section
120.59, Florida Statutes, on findings of fact submitted by the parties.

     Proposed Findings of Fact Submitted by Petitioner:

     Accepted in substance:  unnumbered paragraphs 3, 4, 5, 6, 7,8, 10(in part),
19, 20, 23, 35(in part)
     Rejected as irrelevant, immaterial or a comment on the evidence: unnumbered
paragraphs:  1, 2, 9, 10(in part), 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 22, 24, 25, 26,
30, 31, 34, 36, 37
     Rejected as hearsay:  unnumbered paragraphs 11, 27, 28, 29, 30, 38, 39
     Rejected as against the greater weight of evidence:  unnumbered paragraphs
21(1), (2), & (3), 32, 33, 34, 35(in part), 36

     Proposed Findings of Fact Submitted by Respondent:

     Accepted: paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16,
18, 20(in part), 21, 22
     Rejected as irrelevant, immaterial or a comment on the evidence:
paragraphs 17, 19, 20(in part), 23, 24, 25
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Dana Baird
General Counsel
Florida Human Relations
  Commission
325 John Knox Road
Building F, Suite 240
Tallahassee, Florida  32303-4149

Margaret Jones, Clerk
Florida Human Relations
  Commission
325 John Knox Road
Building F, Suite 240
Tallahassee, Florida  32303-4149

              NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions to the Recommended
Order.  All agencies allow each party at least 10 days in which to submit
written exceptions.  Some agencies allow a larger period within which to submit
written exceptions.  You should consult with the agency that will issue the
Final Order in this case concerning their rules on the deadline for filing
exceptions to this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions to this Recommended Order
should be filed with the agency that will issue the Final Order in this case.


